IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA ex rel. its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Appellant,

VS.

JOSE MIGUEL NAVARRETE, an individual,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 10 2021 08:11 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Supreme Court Case No: A-19-797661-J

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD Attorney General MICHELLE DI SILVESTRO ALANIS (Bar No. 10024) Supervising Senior Deputy Attorney General Nevada Office of the Attorney General 555 E. Washington Ave. #3900 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 486-3268 (phone) (702) 486-3773 (fax) malanis@ag.nv.gov

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS4
	A. Employment with NDOC4
	B. Misconduct
	C. Random Search of Inmates
	D. Restraining and Inmate and Using Force14
	E. Accurate ad Truthful Report Writing20
	F. Disciplinary Process
	G. Appeal Hearing
VI.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
VII.	LEGAL ARGUMENT
	A. Standard of Review
	B. The Hearing Officer's Reliance on NDOC AR 339 was a Clear Error of
	Law and it was Clear Error of Law for the District Court Not to Rule on
	this Issue

C. The Hearing Officer Violated Statutory Provisions and Committed Clear
Error when He failed to Consider Whether Employee Violated NAC
284.650 (1), (10) and (21) and it was Clear Error of Law for District
Court Not to Rule on this Issue
D. Both the District Court and the Hearing Officer Clearly Erred When
They Used the Preponderance of the Evidence Standard40
E. The Hearing Officer's Decision was Arbitrary and Capricious, an Abuse
of Discretion and Clearly Erroneous in View of the Reliable, Probative,
and Substantial Evidence on the Whole Record46
1. Violation of NAC 284.650(1)48
2. Violation of NAC 284.650(10)51
3. Violation of NAC 284.650(21)55
F. It was Clear Error and an Abuse of Discretion for the Hearing Officer to
Reply on his "Soul Searching" to Determine if the Employee was
Dishonest58
VII. CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE60
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE62

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Allied-Signal, Inc. v. Nuclear Reg. Comm'n,
988 F.2d 146 (D.C. Cir. 1993)48
Bisch v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't,
129 Nev. 328, 302 P.3d 1108 (2013)
Campbell v. Nevada Tax Com'n,
109 Nev. 512, 853 P.2d 717 (1993)35
Clark Cnty. Educ. Ass'n v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist.,
122 Nev. 337, 131 P.3d 5 (2006)46
City Plan Dev., Inc. v. Office of Labor Com'r,
121 Nev. 419, 117 P.3d 182 (2005)
Dykema v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.,
132 Nev. Adv. Op. 82, 385 P.3d 977 (2016)35
Elizondo v. Hood Mach., Inc.,
129 Nev. 780, 312 P.3d 479 (2013)
Gandy v. State ex rel. Div. Investigation,
96 Nev. 281, 607 P.2d 581 (1980)35
Holohan v. Massanari,
246 F.3d 1195 (9th Cir. 2001)

Meadow v. Civil Service Bd. Of LVMPD,		
105 Nev. 624, 781 P.2d 772 (1989)		
Nassiri v. Chiropractic Phys. Bd.,		
130 Nev. 245 (2014)41, 42, 43		
NDOC v. Ludwick,		
135 Nev. 99, 440 P.3d 43 (2019)		
Nevada Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Adams,		
133 Nev. 1077, (Nev. App. 2017)43		
O'Keefe v. Dep't. of Motor Vehicles,		
134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018) 1,2, 37, 41, 41, 43, 46, 47		
Richardson v. Perales,		
402 U.S. 389 (1971)42, 46		
Robertson Transp. Co. v. P.S.C.,		
39 Wis.2d 653, 159 N.W.2d 636 (1968)43		
State Indus. Ins. System v. Khweiss,		
108 Nev. 123, 825. P.2d 218 (1992)		
Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas,		
111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995)42		
111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995)		

Turk v. Nevada State Prison,

94 Nev. 101, 575 P.2d 599 (1978)49
United States v. Dierckman,
201 F.3d 915 (7th Cir. 2000)
Whalen v. Welliver,
60 Nev. 154, P.2d 188 (1940)42
STATUTES
NRS 209.111
NRS 209.131
NRS 233B.010
NRS 233B.135
NRS 284.38347
NRS 284.3902, 3, 24, 39, 42, 58
OTHER AUTHORITIES
NAC 284.650passim
NAC 284.653
NAC 284.656
NAC 284.738
NAC 284.794
NAC 284.798

I.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 3A(b)(1) and NRS 233B.150. The Eighth Judicial District Court (District Court) of Clark County, Nevada's Order Denying Petition For Judicial Review (Order) was entered on October 12, 2020. Joint Appendix ("JA") Vol. VII, 1513-1517. The Notice of Entry of Order was electronically served on October 13, 2020. JA, Vol. VII, 1518-1524. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on November 12, 2020. JA, Vol. VII, 1525-1534.

This appeal is from the District Court's final Order denying Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NEV. R. APP. P. 17(b)(10) as it relates to an administrative agency case not involving tax, water, or public utilities commission determinations. However, this Court should retain the appeal as this case would clarify the standard a hearing officer uses to review discipline in the first step of the three-step process outlined in *O'Keefe v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018). The first step requires the hearing officer to review de novo whether the employee in fact committed the

alleged violation but does not expressly state the standard to be applied. This matter raises an issue of statewide public importance as it affects every appeal filed by state employees pursuant to NRS 284.390.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Was the hearing officer's reliance on NDOC AR 339 a clear error of law and was it clear error for the district court not to rule on this issue?
- 2. Was the hearing officer's decision in violation of statutory provisions and a clear error of law when he failed to consider whether Employee violated NAC 284.650(1), (10), and (21) and was it clear error for the district court not to rule on this issue?
- 3. Did the hearing officer clearly err when he used a preponderance of the evidence standard rather than substantial evidence to determine whether employee engaged in misconduct under the first step of *O'Keefe*?
- 4. Were the findings and/or decisions of the district court and the hearing officer clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, arbitrary and capricious or an abuse of discretion?
- 5. Was it clear error of law and an abuse of discretion for the hearing officer to rely on his "soul searching" rather than the evidence?

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the termination of Respondent, Jose Miguel Navarrete (Employee) from his employment as a senior correctional officer with Respondent, Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC). NDOC dismissed Employee for allowing unauthorized and excessive use of force on an inmate in violation of law and NDOC policies and dishonesty stemming from Employee's report of the use of force. JA, Vol. V, 1114-1175.

Employee appealed his dismissal to the Department of Administration Personnel Commission hearing officer pursuant to NRS 284.390. JA, Vol. VI, 1416-1418. After a two-day hearing, the hearing officer reversed Employee's dismissal and restored him to his position with back pay and benefits in accordance with the prior stipulation of the parties. JA Vol. IV, 0852-861, JA Vol. VI, 1426-1427.

NDOC filed a Petition for Judicial Review pursuant to NRS 284.390(9) and NRS 233B.010, et. seq. JA Vol. 1, 0001-14. After the matter was fully briefed, the district court heard oral argument on the petition for judicial review. JA Vol. VII, 1539-1587. The district court denied judicial review. JA Vol. VII, 1513-1517 A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. JA, Vol. VII, 1525-1534. NDOC appeals the District Court's order as NDOC's substantial rights have been prejudiced.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

V.

A. Employment with NDOC

NDOC hired Employee on May 5, 2008, as a correctional officer trainee. JA Vol. II, 365-366, JA Vol. V, 1116. After one year, Employee advanced to a correctional officer and in 2013, Employee was promoted to senior correctional officer. JA Vol. II, 366. Throughout his career, Employee worked at Southern Desert Correctional Center (SDCC). *Id*.

As a senior correctional officer, Employee had increased responsibility because he was the first line supervisor for other staff present and was responsible for training junior staff. JA Vol. IV, 760, 770. A senior officer can make snap decisions on the spot when a sergeant is not present and even sometimes may have to serve as an acting sergeant. JA Vol. IV, 760.

At all relevant times, Employee was assigned to the Search and Escort post. JA Vol. II, 0382. On the day in question, Employee was the Lead Search and Escort Officer. JA Vol. II 370, JA Vol. V 1126. A Lead Search and Escort Officer takes lead in the Search and Escort operations and missions for the day. JA Vol. II 369-370, JA Vol. IV, 769. The Lead Search and Escort Officer directs other officers' activities, trains other officers, and has a duty to ensure officers comply with NDOC policies. JA Vol. II 0295-296.

Employee read and signed his Work Performance Standards for the senior correctional officer position on November 18, 2014. JA Vol. V 1196-1198. Employee understood job element one - custodial responsibilities - included complying with Administrative Regulations and NDOC procedures for control on inmate activities, assuring proper supervision of inmates, ensuring safety for staff and inmate population, and submitting written documentation of any deficiencies. JA Vol. II 0454, JA Vol. V 1196-1198. Employee understood job element two training - included serving as a lead worker for subordinate officers and provides on the job training to subordinate officers on duties of assigned areas. JA Vol. II 0454-455, JA Vol. V 1197. Employee further understood job element three - legal responsibilities - included reporting and documenting all violations. JA Vol. II 0455, JA Vol. V 1197. Employee understood job element ten - work ethic - included using available resources. Id., JA Vol. V, 1198. Lastly, employee understood job element thirteen - professionalism - included displaying a professional demeanor at all times when interacting with staff and inmates. JA Vol. II 0455-456, JA Vol. V, 1198.

Employee also read and signed his Administrative Regulations Acknowledgment, which acknowledges he must read and familiarize himself with the regulations listed, including AR 339, Code of Ethics; Employee Conduct; Prohibitions and Penalties and AR 340, Employee Complaint Reporting and Investigation. JA Vol. II, 0452-453, JA Vol. V, 1194.

B. Misconduct

On October 9, 2016, Employee was the lead Search and Escort Officer on day shift. JA Vol. II 0370, JA Vol. V 1016, 1115, 1126. Employee was working with Correctional Officer Paul Valdez (Valdez). JA Vol. II 0392, JA Vol. V 1016, 1115. Employee had worked with Valdez for about one year. JA Vol. II, 0463. Search and Escort duties include monitoring inmate movement during the morning meal and conducting random pat down searches for contraband. JA Vol. II 0386-388, JA Vol. III 0704. That day in particular, Employee and Valdez were informed to "crack down" on any contraband coming out of the culinary. JA Vol. II, 0382.

The incident in question occurred during the breakfast service outside of the SDCC culinary. JA Vol. III 0610, JA Vol. IV 0852, JA Vol. V, 783. Employee and Valdez were randomly searching inmates leaving the culinary for contraband, which was a common practice in Search and Escort. JA Vol. III 0704-0705, JA Vol. V 1078, 1107, 1126, 1130. The usual process includes randomly pulling an inmate out of line, placing the inmate on the wall with their hands against the wall and legs spread, and patting him down. JA Vol. III 0613-619, JA Vol. III 0706. Once the pat down is complete, "then normally [the officers] just send them on their way after that." JA Vol. III 0706. The entire process is expedient and takes no more than a couple of minutes. JA Vol. III 0706, 716, JA Vol. V, 1080. One at a time, every inmate aside from one was pulled out of line, searched and released. JA Vol. III,

0615-0618, JA Vol. IV 0853, JA Vol. V 1107. The exception was inmate Rickie Norelus who was searched but not released. *Id.* Instead, Norelus was required to stand facing the wall, with his arms above his head on the wall for approximately eleven minutes. JA Vol. III, 0615-0618, JA Vol. IV 0853, JA Vol. V 1107.

A video camera mounted on the wall outside of the culinary recorded the entire incident; however, there is no audio. JA Vol. V 1107¹. The video starts with several inmates leaving the culinary, a few inmates on the wall and Employee conducting random pat searches. JA Vol. V 1107 at 00:01. Employee was the correctional officer wearing a black hat. Id. Valdez is towards the top of the video randomly pulling inmates out of line for a pat search. Id. When the video starts, Norelus was already on the wall and becomes more visible at approximately eleven seconds into the video. Id. at 00:11. At approximately 1:47 minutes, Employee completes the pat down search of Norelus, who is now the only inmate remaining on the wall. Id. at 1:47. Despite the pat down being complete, Employee did not release Norelus. Id. At approximately 1:59, both Employee and Valdez turn around with their backs towards Norelus and walk away from him. Id. at 1:59. At approximately 2:44, Valdez begins to swing his arms back and forth repeatedly. Id. at 2:44. During this time, no other inmates are randomly selected for a pat down

¹ JA, Vol. V, 1107 is the video of the incident, which the hearings division delivered to the Court on CD for review. *See* JA Vol. VII 1588-1589.

search despite several of them leaving the culinary. Id. At approximately 3:17, Valdez walked towards Norelus, grabbed what appears to be a lunch sack, and threw it in the trash. Id. Norelus was found to have had extra food in his lunch sack, which is considered contraband. JA Vol. II, 0401-402, JA Vol. V, 1052. For the next couple of minutes, Norelus remains on the wall, Valdez continued to swing his arms, and other inmates leave the culinary, but neither Employee nor Valdez conduct any other pat searches. JA Vol. V 1107 at 3:17-6:14. Based on the body language depicted, there are conversations between Employee, Valdez and Norelus. Id. Other inmates also seem to be talking as they walk by. Id. From about two to six minutes into the recording, Navarrete did not search any other inmates and continued to keep Norelus on the wall despite that being one of his duties as a search and escort officer. Id. at 2:00-6:00. At approximately 6:15, Correctional Officer David Wachter (Wachter) exits the culinary and shuts the door. Id. Wachter walks by and then goes out of view. Id. At this juncture, about four and a half minutes have passed since Employee completed Norelus' random search; yet he kept Norelus on the wall. Id. at 6:15. During the four and a half minutes, Employee and Valdez did not search other inmates. Id. From the time Valdez pulled the last inmate for a random search at 00:08 in the video to the time Wachter shut the culinary door at 6:19, over 120 inmates walked out but neither Employee nor Valdez randomly selected a single one of those inmates for a random search. JA Vol. V 1107, 00:08 to 6:19 (emphasis added).

Under the instruction to "crack down on contraband," Valdez and Navarrete should have randomly selected anywhere from 10 to 40 inmates out of the approximate 120 inmates that exited culinary in the six-minute span. JA Vol. III, 0705.

At about 6:58, Wachter walks over towards Employee and Valdez. JA Vol. V 1107. At approximately 7:23, in the upper right corner of the video, other inmates have started to walk towards the culinary. Id. At approximately 7:50, Wachter begins to walk away. Id. Throughout the last couple of minutes, Valdez continues to swing his arms. Id. At approximately, 8:12, Norelus is moving his head from side to side, but keeps his hands on the wall. Id. At approximately 9:50, Norelus appears fidgety but does not remove his hands from the wall or show any signs of physical threat to the officers. Id. Valdez continues to swing his arms. Id. From approximately 10:39 to 10:45, Norelus looks at his left wrist about three times. Id. At approximately 10:49, with Employee leaning on the wall nearby, watching, Valdez walks toward Norelus and, using both hands, pushes Norelus into the wall. Id. Valdez then puts his right arm around Norelus' neck, pulls him back and whips him around to the ground. Id. At about 10:57, Norelus is on his back on the ground and does not appear to be resisting the officers. Id. At about 11:03, Employee and Valdez roll Norelus over onto his stomach and restrain him with no incident. Id. For the next three minutes, Norelus is face down on the ground in wrist restraints while Employee and Valdez wait for the sergeant and medical officer to arrive. Id. At approximately

15:20, the golf cart arrives with the sergeant and medical officer. *Id.* The video concludes at 16:36 with the cart driving away. *Id.* The take down or force used by Valdez was not any accepted methodology taught by NDOC. JA Vol. III, 0626-629, 0715, JA Vol. IV 0808, JA Vol. V 1129.

Employee never contacted the shift sergeant during the almost 11 minutes the inmate was on the wall. JA Vol. II 0464. Employee could restrain an inmate if the inmate was noncompliant. JA Vol. II 0465-0466. Once an inmate is in restraints, he could be taken to the on-duty shift sergeant or the shift sergeant could come to where the inmate has been restrained. JA Vol. II 0466. Employee did not restrain the inmate. *Id.* Employee did not have the sergeant come to him or take the inmate to the sergeant. *Id.*

Following the incident, the shift sergeant reported to the scene with the correctional officer assigned to medical. JA Vol. II 0466-467. Once the medical officer arrived on scene, he recorded the interaction with the inmate while transporting him to the infirmary. During this time, Norelus states, "I hadn't made any threating moves, whatsoever. Your officers here grabbed me by the throat and slammed me down...thank you buddy, you probably paid my son's education. This was unwarranted, my hands did not leave the wall whatsoever." JA Vol. 111 0682. All the witnesses testified that inmates regularly mouth off and will try to bait the officers. JA Vol. III 0690, 0707, JA Vol. IV 0782, 0812-813. Wachter testified

inmates will make inappropriate verbal comments, use foul language, and escalate the comments all of the time in an attempt to get under the officer's skin. JA Vol. III 0707. Wachter testified NDOC trains officers on how to effectively deal with inmates who mouth off. JA Vol. III 0707-708.

Wachter also worked with Valdez. JA Vol. III 0710-711. Wachter testified, in his experience working with Valdez, Valdez always had to get in the last word with the inmates, even if the inmate was complying, Valdez would make a remark that would get the inmate more riled up. JA Vol. III 0718. Wachter further testified he had previously counseled Valdez it is his job to deescalate and quell situations with the inmates, not rile them up. *Id*.

As Associate Warden (AW) of Operations at SDCC, Minor Adams (Adams) was required to review reports in the Nevada Offender Tracking Information System (NOTIS). JA Vol. IV 0753. Adams worked at NDOC for 32 years and was the AW of SDCC for four years. JA Vol. III 0752. This case came across Adams' desk a couple days later because Norelus filed a grievance. JA Vol. IV 0774-0776. As a result, Adams' reviewed all the reports and the video footage. JA Vol. IV 0776. After reviewing the video and comparing it to the officer's reports, Adams' believed there were discrepancies. JA Vol. IV 0779. Both Valdez's and Employee's report stated while Valdez was *attempting to restrain* Norelus, he resisted and/or moved. JA Vol. V 1016, 1020. (emphasis added). However, when Adams watched the video, he said,

"restraints were never attempted to be applied until the guy was on the ground in the dirt." JA Vol. IV 0779. Adams also testified Valdez's body language showed he is agitated because he was swinging his arms back and forth. JA Vol. IV 0781. A trained officer would recognize Valdez was agitated throughout the 11 minutes Norelus was on the wall and Employee, as the senior officer, should have seen Valdez's demeanor, intervened, handcuffed the inmate, and taken him to the sergeant. JA Vol. IV 0781-782. Norelus was against the wall facing away from the officers at all times, so he could not have been a physical threat. JA Vol. IV 0786. Valdez's use of both his hands to push the inmate into the wall was not authorized because only one hand is needed. JA Vol. IV 0808. Putting an arm around the inmate's neck or using a chokehold is not authorized. *Id*.

After reviewing the video of the incident, Adams referred the case for an internal investigation with the Inspector General's office because, in his experience, the reports did not "look right." JA Vol. IV 0780, JA Vol. V, 1078.² While officers often may need to use force to gain compliance at the prison, in Adams' opinion,

² NDOC also referred this incident to the Inspector General's office for a criminal investigation. JA Vol. V 1072-1085. Supervisor David Molnar conducted the criminal investigation. *Id.* Unlike the internal administrative investigation, the Investigator in the criminal investigation makes findings and recommendations. *Id* at 1082-1084. Molnar recommended Employee and Valdez be charged with Oppression under the Color of Office, Battery, and False Report by Public Officer. *Id.* at 1084.

what occurred in the video with Norelus was unauthorized and/or excessive force and did not happen often. JA Vol. IV 0782.

C. Random Search of Inmates

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