LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 002003 NICOLE M. YOUNG, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 12659 610 South Ninth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0536; FAX (702) 386-6812 Attorneys for Appellant

Electronically Filed Jun 09 2021 11:55 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, ex. Rel. DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS;	Case No. 82113					
Appellant,						
v.						
JOSE MIGUEL NAVARRETE, an individual;						
Respondent/						
Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court						

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

I. NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

NDOC's Opening Brief argues form over function. It argues its substantial rights were violated, but all arguments under NRS 233B.135 are merely conclusory statements referencing the various ways a party's substantial rights could be violated. NDOC never states **how** or **why** any of its rights were violated by Gentile to support the reversal of Gentile's decision.

The violations brought against Navarrete by NDOC are redundant. NAC 284.650(10) and AR 339.07.9 both relate to dishonesty. Gentile ultimately found Navarrete's report did not include false or misleading statements, which means he was not dishonest.

NAC 284.650(21), AR 339.07.17, and NDOC's interpretation that NAC 284.650(1) (relying on AR 405) all relate to use of violence. Gentile found Navarrete did not permit excessive force or personally use force. These findings required reversal of NDOC's termination under all of these provisions.

NDOC has made this case extremely more difficult than it actually is.

Gentile ruled on the merits of the actual conduct. NDOC puts form over function when it claims Gentile relied on AR 339. NDOC charged Navarrete with five

////

violations that are redundant of the same two issues, dishonesty and use of force.

These arguments have no regard for judicial economy and only seek to multiply these proceedings without justification.

Because Gentile ruled on the actual merits of the conduct at issue, based on *O'Keefe's* first step that requires proof by a preponderance of the evidence, this Court should affirm Gentile's decision.

VIII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

This Court's role in reviewing a petition of judicial review ("PJR") of an administrative agency's decision is identical to the district court. *Elizondo v. Hood Mach.*, *Inc.*, 129 Nev. 780, 784, 312 P.3d 479, 482 (2013).

The final decision of a state agency is "deemed reasonable and lawful" until proven otherwise. NRS 233B.135(2). The party attacking an administrative decision on appeal, after a PJR is denied, bears the burden of proof to invalidate an agency's decision. *Id.* The appellant must prove the agency's decision violates its substantial rights. *Id.*

To meet this burden, the appellant must prove the agency's decision (1) violates the constitution or other statutory provisions, (2) exceeds the agency's statutory authority, (3) is based on an unlawful procedure, (4) constitutes legal

11

error, (5) clearly erroneous based on "reliable probative and substantial evidence on the whole record," or (6) "arbitrary and capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion." NRS 233B.135(3).

A decision is "arbitrary and capricious" when it disregards the facts and circumstances of the case. *Meadows v. Civ. Serv. Bd. Of LVMPD*, 105 Nev. 624, 627, 781 P.2d 772 (1989).

NRS 233B.135(3) limits this Court's ability to set aside a state agency's decision. This Court is statutorily prohibited from substituting its judgment on the weight of the evidence or credibility of the witnesses found by the agency to determine a question of fact. *Id.*; *see also Gilman v. Nev. St. Bd. of Veterinary Med. Exam.*, 120 Nev. 263 (2004); *Knapp v. St. Dept. of Prisons*, 111 Nev. 420, 423, 892 P.2d 575 (1995); *Nev. Indust. Commn. v. Williams*, 91 Nev. 686, 541 P.2d 905 (1975).

When the agency's conclusions of law are closely related to the findings of fact, those legal conclusions must also be afforded deference and may not be disturbed if supported by substantial evidence. *Jones v. Rosner*, 102 Nev. 215, 719 P.2d 805 (1986).

////

In this case, NDOC has failed to set forth a coherent argument to invalidate Gentile's decision. Gentile's decision analyzes this case on the merits, despite NDOC's failure to properly obtain an extension for its initial decision under NAC 284.6555(1)(b). Gentile's decision also properly decides this case in light of *Ludwick's* invalidation of AR 339.

NDOC would like this Court to ignore *O'Keefe* and *Nassiri* and rubber stamp its initial determination to terminate Navarrete's employment, even though the facts have proven both beyond a reasonable doubt, at the criminal level, and by a preponderance of the evidence, before Gentile, that Navarrete did not do what NDOC claims.

A. NDOC wasted tax payer money when it did not properly obtain an extension for investigations leading to discipline.

In 2011, NRS 284.387 was amended to ensure fairness and due process in connection with internal investigations. To meet this goal, the legislature enacted strict time limits on internal investigations of employees. These time limits require an investigation "be completed and the employee notified of any disciplinary action within 90 days after the employee is provided notice" of the investigation. NRS 284.387(2). An extension of 60 days is only allowed upon a showing of good cause for the delay. *Id.* These time limits were intended to ameliorate the financial

effects of the State keeping employees on prolonged paid administrative leave during the 90 day investigatory period. (*See* Minutes of the Senate Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections, May 10, 2011, 76th Sess, A.B. 179, at pp. 8-9.)

To ensure this legislative goal is met, NAC 284.6555(1)(b) requires an employer requesting an extension to explain "why the appointing authority is unable to complete the internal administrative investigation and make a determination" within the 90 day statutory period.

Navarrete was served with his notice of investigation on October 21, 2016. (JA V:1012.) This meant that he had to be served with an NPD-41 Specificity of Charges by no later than January 17, 2017. *See* NRS 284.387(2).

On January 13, 2017, NDOC requested a 60 day extension from the Division of Human Resource Management. (JA IV:1000-02.) The stated reason for the request was "The Specificity of Charges is currently under review at the Attorney General's Office." (JA IV:1000.) The extension was granted on January 17, 2017. (JA IV:0998 & JA V:1006.)

Pursuant to the plain language of the statute, extensions may not be given based upon mere request; rather such extensions are only granted "upon showing good cause for the delay." An overextended caseload is not "good cause" for

delay. Good cause must be "the result of the events unforeseen and uncontrollable by both counsel and client". *See Miss. v. Turner*, 498 U.S. 1036, 111 S. Ct. 1032 (1991); *See Pfeiffer v. Merit Sys. Prot. Bd.*, 230 F.3d 1375 (Fed. Cir. 1999).

Here, there was no good cause for a delay requiring an extension, much less a showing of good cause by NDOC when it made its request. Rather, the facts reveal that the Office of the Inspector General completed its investigation and submitted the matter for adjudication to Warden Jo Gentry on December 9, 2016. (JA V:1010.) Warden Gentry sustained the charges on December 13, 2016. (JA II:0358.) This is more than one month before the January 17, 2017, deadline for the NPD-41. It is unclear why NDOC dragged its feet to notify Navarrete regarding the disciplinary action against him when it knew one month prior to its request for the extension that it was sustaining the alleged violations against Navarrete. NDOC violated NRS 284.387(2) because it did not need the extension by virtue of the one-month early completion of the investigation. By obtaining an extension, without good cause, taxpayer money was wasted because Navarrete was still on paid administrative leave.

There was no reason why NDOC could not prepare and have the Attorney General's office review the NPD-41 Specificity of Charges in the one month between December 13, 2016 and January 17, 2017. The e-mails generated in

connection with the requested extension do not purport to claim "good cause for delay"; rather they demonstrate NDOC was making multiple requests in multiple cases. (JA IV:1002.) Because no showing of anything unforeseen, uncontrollable, or complicated was made on January 13, 2017, when the request was sought, the extension was unlawful and the resulting discipline untimely. NDOC violated NRS 284.387, NAC 284.6555(1)(b), and the legislature's intent to save taxpayer money when it granted this 60-day extension without a sufficient showing of a "good cause for delay."

Gentile could have reversed Navarrete's termination based on the improper extension received. Instead, he decided to adjudicate this case on the merits. The timeliness issue shows NDOC has a history of not properly following Nevada law to the tax payer's detriment.

B. NDOC's decision to terminate Navarrete was reversed because it simply could not prove the allegations brought against Navarrete.

The NPD-41 Specificity of Charges, in this case, alleges Navarrete violated the following regulations:

NAC 284.650(1) Activity which is incompatible with an employee's conditions of employment established by law or which violates a provision of NAC 284.653 or NAC 284.738 to 284.771, inclusive.

NAC 284.650(10) Dishonesty

NAC 284.650(21) Any act of violence which arises out of or in the course of the performance of the employee's duties, including without limitation, stalking, conduct that is threatening or intimidating, assault or battery.

The NPD-41 also alleged violations of AR 339.07.9 for false or misleading statements and AR 339.07.17 for unauthorized use of force.

NDOC's reliance on AR 339 is their attempt to skip the progressive discipline mandated by NRS 284.383 and NAC 284.638, which provide for a documented warning or, at worst, a written reprimand. AR 339.07.9 is a "Class 5" offense authorizing termination and AR 339.07.17 is a "Class 4-5" offense authorizing suspension or termination. (JA V:1115.)

AR 339, however, was recently invalidated by the Nevada Supreme Court because it was never submitted to or approved by the Personnel Commission to authorize discipline of an employee. *Ludwick*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 12, 440 P.3d 43 (2019).

The alleged violation of NAC 284.650(1) also does not survive the *Ludwick* decision. That statute authorizes discipline for activity incompatible with conditions of employment "established by law" or which violated provisions of

NAC 284.653 or NAC 284.738 to 284.771, inclusive. There is no condition of employment established "by law" implicated in this case.

In order to discipline an employee under NAC 284.650(1), the appointing authority is required to determine the specific activities prohibited by an employee because those activities are "inconsistent, incompatible or in conflict" with the employee's duties. NAC 284.742(1). This is not enforceable against an employee until it is approved by the Personnel Commission. NAC 284.742(1). The appointing authority must also include an explanation of the progressive discipline administered under the policy for the Personnel Commission's approval. NAC 284.742(3).

The best explanation of this process was recently stated in *Ludwick* when it invalidated AR 339 because it was never submitted to or approved by the Personnel Commission.

Because AR 339 was deemed invalid, and NDOC failed to provide any specific facts that Navarrete engaged in activity incompatible with his employment "by law", the alleged NAC 284.650(1) violation does not survive the *Ludwick* decision. Because AR 339 was not properly enacted, the hearing officer could only consider the NAC 284.650 allegations of dishonesty and acts of violence in the workplace.

C. Step one of the *O'Keefe* standard requires NDOC to prove a violation actually occurred under the preponderance of the evidence standard to impose discipline.

NDOC refuses to follow the clear guidance provided by the Nevada Supreme Court to determine the standard of proof in an administrative hearing. In *Nassiri v. Chiropractic Phys. Bd.*, the Court clarified the confusion surrounding issues regarding the <u>standard of proof</u> required during an administrative hearing and the <u>standard of review</u> on a PJR of an administrative decision. 130 Nev. 245, 249-50, 327 P.3d 487 (2014).

The standard of proof applied during an administrative hearing is determined by the governing statute. *Id.* at 250. If a standard of proof is not clearly stated in the governing statutes, then reason and public policy are used to determine the applicable standard of proof. *Id.* at 250-51.

The preponderance of the evidence standard is regularly upheld in Nevada as the "minimum civil standard of proof" consistent with due process *Id.* at 251. Because it is the minimum standard, "[t]here is no lower standard." *Id.* A lower standard "would be nonsensical" and "allow a tribunal to reach a conclusion even after reasoning that the conclusion is more likely to be *incorrect* than" correct. *Id.* at fn 3.

Because Navarrete is an employee under the State Personnel System, NRS 284.385 and NRS 284.390 are the governing statutes regarding the standard of proof required in a hearing to determine the reasonableness of dismissal. Neither of these statutes explicitly state the standard of proof required in such hearings. Based on *Nassiri's* guidance, this Court must look to reason and public policy to determine the applicable standard of proof based on the language of the statute.

NRS 284.390(7) states:

If the hearing officer determines that the dismissal . . .was without just cause as provided in NRS 284.385, the action must be set aside and the employee must be reinstated, with full pay for the period of dismissal, demotion or suspension.

NRS 284.385(1)(a) allows the dismissal of an employee if it serves "the good of the public service."

Recently, some deputy attorney generals, including counsel for NDOC, have argued the "just cause" standard from *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas*, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995), should apply. The fallacy of this argument is that *Vargas* does not actually hold that an employer's "just cause" for termination need only be proven by substantial evidence. This interpretation fails to consider the crux of *Vargas*, which considers the interplay of the at-will employment doctrine and basic contract principles. *Vargas* carves out a narrow exception to the at-will

doctrine to account for unilateral promises provided to employees by their employer in an employment handbook. Because it is a narrow exception, the basic premise of the at-will doctrine survives; either the employer or the employee may terminate the employment relationship at any time.

The *Vargas* decision is analogous to how federal courts interpret an employer's "legitimate business reason" for termination in employment discrimination cases. In those cases, courts have consistently held they "should not second guess an employer's exercise of its business judgment in making personnel decisions, as long as they are not discriminatory." *EEOC v. Republic Serv. Inc.*, 640 F.Supp.2d 1267, 1313 (D. Nev. 2009). Courts have also held that an employer's decision to terminate an employee need not be wise, correct, or fair. *Cianci v. Pettibone Corp.*, 152 F.3d 723, 726 (7th Cir. 1998). This is because in private sector employment discrimination cases, the court does not "sit as superpersonnel departments reviewing the wisdom or fairness of the business judgments made by employers." *Elam v. Reg. Finan. Corp.*, 601 F.3d 873, 880 (8th Cir. 2010).

Unlike in *Vargas*, *Elam*, and *Cianci*, the hearing officer does sit as a superpersonnel department reviewing the correctness, fairness, and wisdom of NDOC's termination of Navarrete under the first step of *O'Keefe's* three-step review process under NRS 284.390(1). *See O'Keefe*, 134 Nev. at 759; *see* NAC 284.798.

Under the first step of this review, "the hearing officer reviews de novo whether the employee in fact committed the alleged violation." *Id.* In other words, if the hearing officer finds, based on his de novo review of the evidence, that the violation did not occur, then he does not consider the remaining two steps and must reverse the discipline imposed.

The language of this step mandates the hearing officer utilize the preponderance of the evidence standard because the hearing officer must determine whether the violation did "in fact" occur. There is no lower standard of proof available to meet the level of proof required that a violation did occur. NDOC's argument that the substantial evidence standard applies is "nonsensical" because it would allow the hearing officer or this Court to "reach a conclusion even after reasoning that the conclusion in more likely to be incorrect" than correct. *See Nassiri*, 130 Nev. at fn 3. Use of the substantial evidence standard would violate *O'Keefe's* requirement of a de novo review to determine if the violation actually occurred. 134 Nev. at 759.

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